FILED Court of Appeals Division III State of Washington 4/29/2024 10:32 AM FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 4/29/2024 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

SUPREME COURT NO. _____ COURT OF APPEALS NO. 39113-2-III Case #: 1030061

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

A.M.W.,

Petitioner.

ON REVIEW FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR SPOKANE COUNTY

The Honorable Julie M. McKay, Judge

PETITION FOR REVIEW

KEVIN A. MARCH Attorney for Petitioner

NIELSEN KOCH & GRANNIS, PLLC The Denny Building 2200 Sixth Avenue, Suite 1250 Seattle, WA 98121 (206) 623-2373

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Thirteen-year-old A.M.W. pleaded guilty to one count of fourth degree assault and her disposition included a seven-month term of community supervision. CP 7-14, 18-19. While she was under community supervision, the prosecution moved for a bench warrant, alleging violations of the disposition order. CP 51-55; RP 8-9. The defense opposed the bench warrant, asserting it was

not authorized under JuCR 7.16 because Ms. W's alleged violations posed no serious threat to public safety. CP 60-63; RP 9-11.

The juvenile court issued the bench warrant along with an authorizing order. CP 64-69. It reasoned it could "make [JuCR] 7.16 as well as [RCW] 13.40 work together." RP 14. It also found that Ms. W's alleged self-harm behaviors, substance use, mental health issues, and failure to follow court orders posed a serious risk to public safety. RP 15; CP 64.

Ms. W appealed. CP 72-79. The Court of Appeals directed the parties to file memoranda on appealability and discretionary review. The parties did so, stipulating that irrespective of appealability or mootness, discretionary review was appropriate to interpret what constituted a serious threat to public safety under JuCR 7.16. A Court of Appeals commissioner determined the bench warrant was not appealable but granted discretionary review because JuCR 7.16 merited interpretation by an appellate court.

In their Court of Appeals briefing, the parties agreed that the juvenile court did not satisfy JuCR 7.16 when issuing the bench warrant. Br. of Pet'r at 23; Br. of Resp't at 17. The Court of Appeals also agreed that JuCR 7.16's requirements were not satisfied because the circumstances of the alleged violation of the disposition order did not pose a serious threat to public safety. A.M.W., slip op. at 7.

The parties and the Court of Appeals also agreed that JuCR 7.16 and RCW 13.40.040 could not be harmonized, given that JuCR 7.16 requires a showing of "serious threat to public safety" to issue an arrest warrant whereas RCW 13.40.040 does not. <u>A.M.W.</u>, slip op. at 10-11. Because of the conflict between JuCR 7.16 and RCW 13.40.040, the dispute became whether the court rule or the statute applied. <u>A.M.W.</u>, slip op. at 11-12.

Resolving this dispute against the rule, the Court of Appeals majority concluded that JuCR 7.16 violates the separation of powers doctrine because it is substantive, not procedural, and therefore beyond the courts' authority to adopt.

A.M.W., slip op. at 13-14, 17. According to the majority, the rule "restricts courts from holding juveniles accountable as contemplated by the Juvenile Justice Act unless the juvenile presents a serious threat to public safety. This renders the juvenile court an ineffective tribunal for many of the cases the State is authorized to charge under the Act." Id. at 13. While conceding that JuCR 7.16 technically addresses only warrants, the majority nevertheless reasoned the rule was substantive because "a court's practical ability to impose incarceration as a punishment is inextricably tied to its power to haul defendants into court, such as by issuing a warrant." A.M.W., slip op. at 14 n.3. Thus, the majority concluded that "JuCR 7.16 is a substantive rule that cannot be enforced in the face of the Juvenile Justice Act." A.M.W., slip op. at 18.

Relying on RCW 2.04.190, the dissent concluded that JuCR 7.16 is procedural because it pertained to warrants, a type of judicial process, examining several decisions. <u>A.M.W.</u>, slip op. (Fearing, C.J., dissenting) at 8-9, 11-18. While the dissent

agreed that JuCR 7.16 may at times "interfere with the punishment the legislature intended under chapter 13.40 RCW," "[t]he majority cites no decision that establishes the notion that a procedural rule transmogrifies into a substantive rule if the procedural rule interferes with substantive law or the purpose behind the substantive law." A.M.W., slip op. (Fearing, C.J., dissenting) at 19. The dissent pointed out that procedural rules often "precipitate substantive consequences," citing the exclusionary rule in the search and seizure context, CrR 3.3, and the evidence rules as examples. A.M.W., slip op. (Fearing, C.J., dissenting) at 20-22. And the dissent pointed to substantial scholarship showing that incarceration harms children, suggesting that other tools, including those the legislature had recently adopted to curtail juvenile detention, were better suited to intervene with juveniles in crisis. Id. at 23-25.

D. ARGUMENT IN SUPPORT OF REVIEW

1. Arrest warrants pertain to matters of criminal process and therefore are within the procedural rulemaking power of the judicial branch

JuCR 7.16 pertains to issuing arrest warrants, a form a legal process. The Court of Appeals' conclusion that JuCR 7.16 is nevertheless substantive rather than procedural, and therefore is an unconstitutional violation of the separation of powers doctrine, conflicts with Washington case law and statutes, and presents a significant constitutional question regarding the Supreme Court's rulemaking authority. Further, JuCR 7.16's propriety as a procedural rule limits and mitigates the harmful arrest and incarceration of numerous Washington children, so the Court of Appeals' evisceration of the rule presents a matter of substantial public interest. All RAP 13.4(b) criteria support review.

"The Washington State Constitution does not contain a formal separation of powers clause, but ""the very division of our government into different branches has been presumed throughout our state's history to give rise to a vital separation of powers doctrine."" Putnam v. Wenatchee Valley Med. Ctr., 166 Wn.2d 974, 980, 216 P.3d 374 (2009) (quoting Brown v. Owen, 165 Wn.2d 706, 718, 206 P.3d 310 (2009) (quoting Carrick v. Locke, 125 Wn.2d 129, 135, 882 P.2d 173 (1994))). The doctrine divides the government into three coequal branches: executive, legislative, and judicial. Putnam, 166 Wn.2d at 980. Each branch must remain inviolate and if one invades the prerogatives of another, it violates the separation of powers implicit in our constitution. Id.

"Some fundamental functions are within the inherent power of the judicial branch, including the power to promulgate rules for its practice." <u>Id.</u> "If a statute appears to conflict with a court rule, this court will first attempt to harmonize them and give effect to both, but if they cannot be harmonized, the court rule will prevail in procedural matters and the statute will prevail in substantive matters." <u>Id.</u>

The legislature also acknowledges this same division of power, expressly authorizing the Supreme Court to "regulate

and prescribe by rule the forms for and the kind and character of the entire pleading, practice and procedure to be used in all suits, actions, appeals and proceedings of whatever nature by the supreme court, superior courts, and district courts of the state." RCW 2.04.190. This rulemaking authority also extends to "writs and all other process" and "giving notice and serving writs and process of all kinds." RCW 2.04.190. "When and as the rules of court herein authorized shall be promulgated all laws in conflict therewith shall be and become of no further force or effect." RCW 2.04.200.

The parties and the Court of Appeals agree that the warrant-related provisions of RCW 13.40.040 and JuCR 7.16 cannot be harmonized. The statute authorizes the arrest of juveniles for any violation of a disposition or release order. RCW 13.40.040(1)(a). JuCR 7.16(a) and (b), by contrast, provide that no arrest warrants may issue unless the court explicitly finds that an alleged violation of a court order or a failure to appear poses a "serious threat to public safety."

Because JuCR 7.16 narrows the authority to issue juvenile arrest warrants to serious public safety threats, it conflicts with the broader authority provided in RCW 13.40.040(1).

Given this conflict, JuCR 7.16 prevails only if it is a procedural rule. It is such a rule because warrants are procedural in nature. As the dissenting opinion establishes, a "[w]arrant is "[a] writ directing or authorizing someone to do an act, esp. one directing a law enforcer to make an arrest, a search, or a seizure." A.M.W., slip op. (Fearing, C.J., dissenting) at 8 (second alteration in original) (quoting BLACK'S LAW DICTIONARY 1900 (11th ed. 2019)). An arrest warrant is "a warrant issued by a disinterested magistrate after a showing of probable cause, directing a law-enforcement officer to arrest and take a person into custody." A.M.W., slip op. (Fearing, C.J., dissenting) at 8 (quoting BLACK's, supra, 1900). And legal process means "a summons, writ, warrant, mandate, or other process issuing from a court." State v. Duffey, 97 Wn. App. 33, 40, 981 P.2d 1 (1999) (quoting BLACK'S LAW DICTIONARY 1205 (6th ed. 1990)).

Given that arrest warrants are warrants, warrants are writs, and writs are part of legal process, warrants are part of legal process. They are thus procedural. Indeed, RCW 2.04.090 provides, "The supreme court shall have the power to prescribe ... the forms of writs and all other process" and "of giving notice and serving writs and process of all kinds." (Emphasis added.) Through RCW 2.04.090, the legislature acknowledges that warrants of all kinds are procedural in nature and properly fall within the Supreme Court's rulemaking authority and through RCW 2.04.100, any conflicting statutes are of no force or effect.

Examining the fate of former RCW 10.31.010 (1891), repealed by Laws of 1984, ch. 76, § 25, confirms that arrest warrants fall within the judicial rulemaking power. The former statute used to provide a process requiring courts to direct arrest warrants "returnable forthwith" upon the filing of an information or, absent immediate direction, requiring the court clerk to issue

an arrest warrant within 10 days after the information is filed. LAWS OF 1891, ch. 28, § 41 (codified as amended at former RCW 10.31.010). In 1984, the legislature repealed numerous statutes in an act pertaining to "statutes superseded by court rule," including former RCW 10.31.010. LAWS OF 1984, ch. 76, § 25 (capitalization omitted). Thus, the legislature 40 years ago ceded its authority over arrest warrants to the judiciary, signifying that the legislature believes arrest warrants are procedural matters for the courts, not substantive matters for itself.

Ms. W finds no Washington case that directly holds that arrest warrants are matters of procedure. In State v. Fields, 85 Wn.2d 126, 127, 530 P.2d 284 (1975), however, the court considered a conflict between CrR 2.3(b) and RCW 10.79.015 regarding *search* warrants. The rule authorized search warrants for all crimes whereas the statute limited search warrants to felony investigations. Fields, 85 Wn.2d at 127. The court concluded that the rule applied, given the legislative grant of authority prescribe procedural rules in RCW 2.04.190 and the

at 128-29. The court buttressed this conclusion by recognizing that search warrants involved legal process, which "in its broadest sense is equivalent to procedure and embraces any form of order, writ, summons or notice given by authority of law for the *purpose of acquiring jurisdiction of a person or bringing him to court to answer*." Id. at 129 (emphasis added) (quoting Cutler v. Cutler, 28 Misc.2d 526, 528, 217 N.Y.S.2d 185 (1961)). If *search* warrants fall squarely within the purview of judicial rulemaking, so do *arrest* warrants. Indeed, arrest warrants more readily acquire jurisdiction of persons and bring them to court to answer than search warrants do.

Several cases have recognized court rules' primacy in matters of procedure. <u>E.g.</u>, <u>State v. Gresham</u>, 173 Wn.2d 405, 429, 431-32, 269 P.3d 207 (2012) (because admission of evidence at trial is a procedural matter, ER 404(b) prevailed over statute that allowed broader admission of prior bad acts "notwithstanding" ER 404(b)); <u>State v. Templeton</u>, 148 Wn.2d

193, 212-18, 59 P.3d 632 (2002) (right to counsel established by CrRLJ 3.1 valid exercise of procedural rulemaking authority); State v. Thomas, 121 Wn.2d 504, 509-12, 851 P.2d 673 (1993) (CrR 2.3 prevailed over inconsistent statute governing executions and returns of drug-related search warrants given the procedural nature of search warrants); State v. Smith, 84 Wn.2d 498, 500-03, 527 P.2d 674 (1974) (CrR 3.2(h) prevailed over inconsistent statute regarding release on bail pending appeal, given that fixing bail was procedural in nature); In re Det. of Lane, 182 Wn. App. 848, 854-56, 332 P.3d 1042 (2014) (because evidence rules pertain to matters of procedure, they prevail over statute prohibiting application of evidence rules in juvenile involuntary commitment proceedings).

Arrest warrants pertain to the judicial process by which, as the Court of Appeals puts it, the court "haul[s]" defendants into court to answer. <u>A.M.W.</u>, slip op. at 11, 14 n.3. This power to hold a defendant to answer "to hear and determine the matter in which the defendant is held" connotes procedure and only

<u>& Recognizance</u> § 8 (1963)). Because arrest warrants pertain to judicial procedure, judicial rules establishing this procedure must prevail over any conflicting statute. By failing to apply this reasoning to JuCR 7.16, the Court of Appeals decision conflicts will all the decisions cited above that recognize court rules' constitutional primacy in matters of procedure, supporting review under RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2), and (3).

2. A procedural rule does not become substantive merely because it has substantive effects and JuCR 7.16 does not render the Juvenile Justice Act a nullity, as the Court of Appeals decision claims

The Court of Appeals decision recognizes that "[t]echnically, JuCR 7.16 addresses only warrants. Detention pursuant to a warrant is not punishment, and a warrant need not result in incarceration." <u>A.M.W.</u>, slip op. at 14 n.3. This recognition should resolve the procedure-versus-substance debate. Instead, the Court of Appeals decision that JuCR 7.16 is substantive rests entirely on the effects of its procedure: "a

court's practical ability to impose incarceration as a punishment is inextricably tied to its power to haul defendants into court, such as by issuing a warrant." Id.; accord id. at 13 (JuCR 7.16) "renders the juvenile court an ineffective tribunal for many of the cases the State is authorized to charge under the Act"), 15 ("A summons to appear in court has no meaningful power if it is not backed up by the possibility of a warrant or some other sanction."), 16 ("Accountability is not possible if courts lack the tools necessary to compel the presence of an unwilling participant."), 17 (JuCR 7.16 "thwarts the State's ability to seek an adjudication altogether. We deem this type of substantive restriction a matter that falls outside the scope of the Supreme Court's rule-making authority" (footnote omitted)).

Ms. W concedes that procedural rules have substantive effects. This does not make them substantive rules. The Court of Appeals majority's focus on the mere effects of JuCR 7.16—effects that it greatly exaggerates—to strike down the rule on separation-of-powers grounds is in error. A duly authorized

procedural rule like JuCR 7.16 cannot and does not become a substantive rule simply because it occasions substantive effects.

While a clearly delineated line between the substantive and the procedural is not always possible, "[s]ubstantive law prescribes norms for societal conduct and punishments for violations thereof. It thus creates, defines, and regulates primary rights." Smith, 84 Wn.2d at 501. "In contrast, practice and procedure pertain to the essentially mechanical operations of the courts by which substantive law, rights, and remedies are effectuated." Id.

Because procedure's operation necessarily influences how, when, where, and over whom courts may effectuate substantive law, rights, and remedies, procedural rules will always have some impact on these substantive considerations. But procedure remains procedure, even despite significant substantive effects.

As the dissent astutely observes, procedural rules do have a pronounced collateral impact on the substance of any given case.

The exclusionary rule, which in Washington is "nearly

categorical," State v. Winterstein, 167 Wn.2d 620, 636, 220 P.3d 1226 (2009), "allows many criminals to escape judgment and punishment" "even for heinous crimes such as treason, murder, and rape." A.M.W., slip op. (Fearing, C.J., dissenting) at 20. Yet "no court has declared the exclusionary rule unconstitutional because it thwarts legislative policy demanding punishment for a crime." Id. at 21.

Likewise, CrR 3.3, a procedural time-for-trial rule, is strictly enforced, requiring dismissal with prejudice upon violation irrespective of the nature of the crime, yet "[n]o one argues that CrR 3.3 violates separation of powers by intruding on the prerogative of the legislature to punish crimes." <u>A.M.W.</u>, slip op. (Fearing, C.J., dissenting) at 21. And "[t]he primacy of ER 404(b) over RCW 10.58.090 will cause some rapists to avoid conviction and punishment. The Supreme Court, in <u>State v. Gresham</u>, did not ponder this thought." <u>A.M.W.</u>, slip op. (Fearing, C.J., dissenting) at 21.

The dissent's analogues are helpful and correct. The danger in the majority's focus on the effects of a procedural rule is that it would tend to transform all procedural rules into substantive ones. Taken to its logical endpoint, the Court of Appeals decision would ultimately destroy any distinction between procedure and substance, thereby undermining if not eliminating altogether the very notion of separation of powers on which its decision claims to rest. The mere fact that JuCR 7.16 might cause substantive effects does not render it invalid as a violation of the separation of powers. Given that JuCR 7.16 "deals only with the procedures to effectuate" the primary rights contained in the Juvenile Justice Act, it remains a procedural rule. Putnam, 166 Wn.2d at 985.

In any event, the majority decision below exaggerates the effects of JuCR 7.16, claiming that the rule effectively renders the entire Juvenile Justice Act a nullity. It does not. Juveniles who pose a serious threat to public safety are still subject to arrest warrants under JuCR 7.16. Law enforcement officers may also

arrest children "if grounds exist for the arrest of an adult in identical circumstances." RCW 13.40.040(1)(b). And for the juveniles brought before them, juvenile courts retain authority to detain juveniles under RCW 13.40.040(2) upon finding probable cause that the juvenile has committed an offense, will likely fail to appear, poses a danger of self-harm, will intimidate witnesses or interfere in the administration of justice, or is a fugitive from justice. When court dates are set and the juvenile fails to appear, the duration of the juvenile's absence is tolled against the timefor-trial clock and against any period of community supervision. JuCR 7.8(c)(ii); JuCR 7.16(a)(1), (b)(2). And a juvenile's failure to appear may give rise to additional criminal liability resulting in additional punishment: "Failure to appear on the date scheduled by the court pursuant to this section shall constitute the crime of bail jumping." RCW 13.40.040(5). The court retains its contempt power. RCW 13.40.100(8). And the court may impose additional penalties, including detention, for disposition order violations. RCW 13.40.200. The ability to incarcerate juveniles

adjudicated of offenses also remains. <u>See</u> RCW 13.40.0357; RCW 13.40.160. Given the possibility of punishment, additional punishment, criminal liability, and tolling, it would often run counter to many juveniles' self-interests to casually disregard the authority of juvenile courts. Contrary to the majority's fears, chapter 13.40 RCW is not rendered completely ineffective by virtue of JuCR 7.16.

In addition, the Court of Appeals seems to take the dimmest possible view of juvenile court respondents, assuming that all of them are lawlessly eager to disregard juvenile court authority if not confronted with the constant threat of arrest warrants. A.M.W., slip op. at 11, 13-17 & n.6. From this premise, which appears unsupported by any empirical data, the Court of Appeals assumes that the juvenile courts will be mostly unable to function as adjudicative bodies because of JuCR 7.16's more onerous arrest warrant procedure.

As discussed, juveniles still face significant legal consequences under chapter 13.40 RCW notwithstanding JuCR

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