FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
5/29/2024 2:14 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

Supreme Court No. 103006-1 COA No. 39113-2-III

IN THE SUPREME COURT

OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON, Plaintiff/Respondent

V.

A.M.W.,
Defendant/Petitioner.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

LAWRENCE H. HASKELL Spokane County Prosecuting Attorney

Alexis M. Lundgren Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorneys for Respondent

County-City Public Safety Building West 1100 Mallon Spokane, Washington 99260 (509) 477-3662

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

The State's purpose in opposing JuCR 7.16 is not grounded in the desire for detention, but in its desire for Washington's juvenile courts to retain their legislatively granted authority to call all juvenile offenders into court to effectuate the primary policy goals of the Juvenile Justice Act: to hold juvenile offenders accountable for their actions, to rehabilitate them before they reach adulthood when continued criminal behavior will have more serious and potentially lifelong consequences, and to respond to the needs of the victims of juvenile offenders. RCW 13.40.010(2).

The State does not contest that this case presents a significant question of law under the Washington Constitution or that it involves an issue of substantial public interest such that it satisfies the criteria for review by this Court under RAP 13.4(b)(3) and (4). However, because the Court of Appeals correctly decided the issue and because this Court has alternative means of addressing its concerns within constitutional parameters, the simplest way to resolve this issue is to deny review and amend one or more of this Court's other preexisting juvenile court rules.

1. Overview of Relevant Statutes and Court Rules.

An overview of the relevant statutory provisions and court rules is helpful. Under the relevant portion of RCW 13.40.040(1), a juvenile may be *taken* into custody:

(a) Pursuant to a court order if a complaint is filed with the court alleging, and the court finds probable cause to believe, that the juvenile has committed an offense or has violated terms of a disposition order or release order; or

(b) Without a court order, by a law enforcement officer if grounds exist for the arrest of an adult in identical circumstances. Admission to, and continued custody in, a court detention facility shall be governed by subsection (2) of this section[.]

RCW 13.40.040(1)(a)-(b). Subsection (2) of RCW 13.40.040(1) plainly prohibits a juvenile from being *held* in detention unless there is probable cause to believe that:

- (a) The juvenile has committed an offense or has violated the terms of a disposition order; and
 - (i) The juvenile will likely fail to appear for further proceedings; or
 - (ii) Detention is required to protect the juvenile from himself or herself; or
 - (iii) The juvenile is a threat to community safety; or
 - (iv) The juvenile will intimidate witnesses or otherwise unlawfully interfere with the administration of justice; or
 - (v) The juvenile has committed a crime while another case was pending; or
- (b) The juvenile is a fugitive from justice; or
- (c) The juvenile's parole has been suspended or modified; or

(d) The juvenile is a material witness.

RCW 13.40.040(2).

Under JuCR 7.3(f), the hearing to determine whether postarrest detention should continue upon an alleged violation of a conditional release order or disposition order "shall" occur "within 72 hours (excluding Saturdays, Sundays, and holidays) after taking the juvenile into custody, or the juvenile shall be released."

Under JuCR 7.14(d), upon a motion to modify a disposition order when a juvenile is alleged to have violated the order and is held in detention, if the motion to modify is contested, the hearing must be held within 7 days of the preliminary hearing if the allegation is not a juvenile offense, and within 14 days if the allegation is a juvenile offense.

At the detention hearing, in recognition of the legislature's authority to determine when detention is authorized, JuCR 7.4(c)

instructs the juvenile court to evaluate "whether continued detention is necessary under RCW 13.40.040."

Like RCW 13.40.040(1), JuCR 7.5(b) authorizes the juvenile court to issue a bench warrant instead of a summons upon an information being filed under the following circumstances:

If the information charges only the commission of a misdemeanor or a gross misdemeanor, the court shall direct the clerk to command the presence of the juvenile by the issuance of a summons or other method approved by local court rule instead of a warrant, unless the court finds probable cause to believe that the juvenile would not appear in response to the command or probable cause to believe that the arrest is necessary to prevent serious bodily harm to the juvenile or another, or serious loss of or harm to property, in which case the court may issue a warrant.

JuCR 7.5(b).

The rule at issue in this case, JuCR 7.16, was initially adopted as a temporary rule in response to the COVID-19 pandemic but became a permanent rule in 2021. Appendix 11-13

(Order, No. 25700-A-1318, *In the Matter of the Proposed New JuCR 7.16—Governing Warrant Quashes* (Wash. Nov. 6, 2020)). Its plain language prohibits juvenile courts from issuing bench warrants for any violation of a disposition order or failure to appear unless the individual circumstances of the violation or failure to appear pose a "serious threat to public safety." JuCR 7.16(a)-(b).

2. JuCR 7.16 irreconcilably conflicts with RCW 13.40.040(1).

As the State argued below, JuCR 7.16 and RCW 13.40.040(1) irreconcilably conflict because JuCR 7.16 limits the juvenile court's broad authority granted by the statute to issue bench warrants for any noncompliant juvenile to only those juveniles who present a serious threat to public safety. An irreconcilable conflict like this raises separation of powers concerns, which are resolved by evaluating "whether the activity of one branch threatens the independence or integrity *or invades*

the prerogatives of another." Hanson v. Carmona, 1 Wn.3d 362, 388, 525 P.3d 940 (2023) (emphasis added) (internal quotations omitted). The court rule will prevail in procedural matters, and a statute will prevail when the matter is substantive. *Waples v. Yi*, 169 Wn.2d 152, 158, 234 P.3d 187 (2010).

3. JuCR 7.16 is substantive.

The line between what is procedural and what is substantive is often murky at best. *See State v. Gresham*, 173 Wn.2d 405, 431, 269 P.3d 207 (2012). To distinguish between the two, courts look to the following guidelines:

Substantive law prescribes norms for societal conduct and punishments for violations thereof. It thus creates, defines, and regulates primary rights. In contrast, practice and procedure pertain to the essentially mechanical operations of the courts by which substantive law, rights, and remedies are effectuated.

Id.

The State conceded below that bench warrants are typically used as a procedural tool by which trial courts effectuate the substantive law enacted by the legislature. In other words, in criminal settings, trial courts universally use bench warrants to ensure the presence of a defendant in court so that the merits of a matter may be litigated and to ensure compliance with court orders. In doing so, trial courts use bench warrants to effectuate the statutory scheme the legislature has enacted to curb problematic "societal conduct and to punish violations thereof." *Gresham*, 173 Wn.2d at 431.

JuCR 7.16, as promulgated, has the opposite effect, thwarting the substantive law passed by the legislature in the Juvenile Justice Act. This problem is two-fold. First, JuCR 7.16 affects the ability of the State and court to effectuate the substantive law promulgated by the legislature for unadjudicated offenses for which a juvenile who does not pose a serious threat

to public safety refuses to voluntarily come to court. Second, JuCR 7.16 hamstrings the State and court's ability to effectuate the legislature's intent that the Juvenile Justice Act should be rehabilitative for adjudicated offenders who willfully refuse to comply with a disposition order but do not pose a serious threat to public safety.

In either scenario, unless the juvenile voluntarily participates in court proceedings, poses a serious threat to public safety, or is arrested on a new charge, JuCR 17.6 prevents juvenile courts from compelling their presence in court. This, in turn, eliminates the ability of the State or the court to resolve cases on the merits, to hold all but the most dangerous juveniles accountable for criminal behavior, to require juveniles to participate in treatment or other rehabilitative services, and to ensure justice for the victims of juvenile offenders. This stymies the legislative objectives in both pre- and post-adjudication

proceedings. The notion that juveniles will voluntarily participate in juvenile court proceedings is undermined by the reasons that require issuance of a bench warrant in the first place: the juvenile's noncompliance with the court's existing orders and failure to appear at required hearings.

Thus, while JuCR 7.16 technically addresses only the issuance of bench warrants, as courts do not generally try juveniles or modify disposition orders in absentia, *see State v. Jackson*, 124 Wn.2d 359, 361, 878 P.2d 453 (1994), the rule entirely undermines both the State's ability to prosecute conduct the legislature has criminalized and the juvenile court's ability to reach the point where it can hold a hearing to address a juvenile's noncompliance with its orders, including, for example, a juvenile's continued substance use, ongoing mental health issues that may lead to self-harm, violations of placement orders

imposed for the safety or stability of the juvenile, or failure to attend school.

It has long been established that the "fixing of penalties or punishments for criminal offenses is a legislative function, and the power of the legislature in that respect is plenary and subject only to constitutional provisions against excessive fines and cruel and inhuman punishment." *Matter of Forcha-Williams*, 200 Wn.2d 581, 591, 520 P.3d 939 (2022) (quoting *State v. Mulcare*, 189 Wash. 625, 628, 66 P.2d 360 (1937)). And in fact, JuCR 7.4(c) recognizes the legislature's authority to enumerate when continued detention is appropriate, as it states that the need for detention shall be evaluated under RCW 13.40.040.

By preventing juvenile courts from even arriving at the juncture where they can assess whether continued detention is necessary, JuCR 7.16 dramatically invades the legislative prerogative to set policy on that matter.

Envisioning the impact of a rule like JuCR 7.16, were it to apply to adult criminal cases, demonstrates how significantly it infringes on issues within the plenary power of the legislature. If JuCR 7.16 had a corollary in adult court, no criminal justice system would exist, except for those defendants who are either dangerous or voluntarily appear for court, creating an odd system in which non-dangerous, but unwilling defendants may avoid justice unless and until they recidivate.

Even in adult therapeutic court programs, superior courts rely on the ability to issue bench warrants for noncompliant adults, as best practices require immediate intervention and accountability for the alternatives to traditional criminal court to have any efficacy at all. *See* RCW 2.30.010(2) (recognizing the importance of "rapid and appropriate accountability for program violations" to decrease recidivism and improve community safety and the lives of program participants). When juvenile

court is viewed as a rehabilitative setting, like drug court for adults, the necessity of bench warrants to gain the noncompliant or distressed juvenile's immediate attendance in court for swift intervention and assistance is manifest.

JuCR 7.16 also creates illogical inconsistencies with other juvenile court rules. For example, as stated above, JuCR 7.5(b) permits certain cases to be initiated by summons and allows other cases to be initiated by bench warrant where there is probable cause to believe the juvenile will not appear or to prevent serious bodily harm to the juvenile or another or to prevent serious harm to property. If the juvenile fails to appear after a summons, JuCR 7.16 then prevents the issuance of a bench warrant unless the juvenile poses a serious threat to public safety, which means the case will simply linger, unresolved, until the juvenile voluntarily appears in court, is arrested on another charge, or the court loses jurisdiction.

Likewise, if a warrant is initially issued under JuCR 7.5(b), after the initial arrest, JuCR 7.16 would prohibit the juvenile court from issuing a subsequent bench warrant for a failure to appear unless the juvenile then poses a serious threat to public safety, which would again forestall the resolution of the case. It is illogical to provide for the initiation of a case but to nearly eliminate the mechanism by which the case can be litigated or resolved on the merits, and, once resolved, by which the court may enforce its disposition order and afford juveniles the rehabilitative services that might prevent recidivism and provide a pathway to a stable, productive life. Such a rule also does nothing to protect the rights of victims to have their injuries acknowledged and redressed to the extent permitted by law.

It should be noted that it is not a foregone conclusion that detention will occur even where it is authorized by statute; often, as was the case with A.M.W., the juvenile court will impose

detention as a punishment but will afford the juvenile the option to convert the detention to community service hours, or some other alternative. *See* CP 41, 43, 45, 47, 49. The primary goals of the Juvenile Justice Act are accountability and rehabilitation of juveniles in crisis. Allowing the juvenile courts the tools necessary to enforce their orders is the only manner by which they can effectuate those legislative goals.

It is well settled that juveniles are different than adults, lack sound reasoning and frequently display "immaturity, impetuosity, ... [the] failure to appreciate risks and consequences," and susceptibility to negative influences. *State v. Houston-Sconiers*, 188 Wn.2d 1, 19 n.4, 23, 391 P.3d 409 (2017) (quoting *Miller v. Alabama*, 567 U.S. 460, 471-73, 132 S.Ct. 2455, 183 L.Ed.2d 407 (2012)). Leaving children in crisis to their own devices, frequently in the company of other individuals who influence them toward the criminal, antisocial,

or self-destructive conduct this Court has recognized they are most susceptible to is not compassionate or rehabilitative justice.

If this Court's concern is about the short-term detention that occurs between arrest and the detention hearing, which JuCR 7.3(f) already limits to 72 hours excluding weekends and holidays, it could resolve that issue by amending that rule to reduce the time period allotted for those hearings to occur. Trial courts already have on-call judges to address search warrants and arrests that occur outside of normal business hours and those judges could hold detention hearings as well.

As an alternative solution to continued detention on disposition order modification motions, this Court could amend JuCR 7.14 to reduce the time in which the juvenile court must hear contested motions to modify, reducing the time permitted for the hearing to 3 days and 7 days from the preliminary hearing, depending on whether the State seeks modification of an order

pertaining to a juvenile offense or a lesser charge. Such an amendment would allow the juvenile courts to resolve cases and rehabilitate youth according to the legislative scheme without subjecting them to lengthy detention while awaiting the contested disposition hearing.

However, prohibiting, for all but the most serious juvenile offenders, the ability of the court to obtain the juvenile's in-court presence so it may enforce its orders, infringes so heavily on the legislature's prerogative to define offenses and set accountability and rehabilitative standards that it is unconstitutional. JuCR 7.16 is substantive in purpose and effect because it inhibits, rather than facilitates, the State and juvenile court's ability to effectuate the substantive law enacted by the legislature. The Court of Appeals properly found that the statute must therefore prevail in this conflict.

VI. CONCLUSION

While this case raises constitutional issues and issues of substantial public importance that are subject to review by this Court under RAP 13.4(b), the Court of Appeals correctly decided the issue and this Court retains alternative methods by which it can constitutionally resolve its concerns about prolonged juvenile detention subsequent to arrest without infringing on the legislature's plenary authority to determine when detention may be appropriate as a mechanism for accountability and rehabilitation, or on the State's ability to prosecute conduct the legislature has criminalized. The State therefore respectfully requests the Court deny the petitioner's request for review.

This document contains 3,731 words, excluding the parts of the document exempted from the word count by RAP 18.17.